

MONTHLY REPORT

Iran Case File

January 2024

Your window on Iran from inside and abroad





MONTHLY REPORT

Iran Case File

January 2024

ISSN 1658 - 8320

W W W. R A S A N A H - III S. O R G Rasanah_iiis info@rasanahiiis.com +966112166696

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of Rasanah.

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
DEVELOPMENTS IN IRAN'S INTERNAL AFFAIR	8
As Elections Approach, Concerns Over Low Turnout Mount	0
A Huge Rise in the US Dollar Exchange Rate Against the Iranian Local Currency1	3
Iran Escalates Tensions Against Neighbors and Launches Three Satellites1	6
Iranians Escape Their Grim Reality Through Suicide1	9
The Politics of Fatwas	21
IRAN-ARAB INTERACTIONS	6
Iranian Tensions Reemerge in Iraq2	8
Iranian-Israeli-Russian Triangle of Tensions in Syria3	31
Western Confrontations With the Houthis in the Red Sea	3
IRAN'S RELATIONS WITH REGIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL POWERS	6
Despite Simmering Tensions, the US and Iran Continue to Avoid a Direct Face-Off 3	8
Iran Facing Tensions With the IAEA and the UK4	2



Executive Summary

The start of 2024 marked a significant turning point for Iran with a multitude of rapid developments. The impact of these intertwined developments with not just its Arab neighbors but also the great powers will undoubtedly shape Iran's foreign policy in the foreseeable future.

Iran is set to hold two important elections at the political level, namely for the Parliament and the Assembly of Experts. However, there are concerns within the Iranian establishment that the upcoming elections may witness low public turnout, similar to the two previous elections — the presidential elections in 2021 and the parliamentary elections in 2022. These two elections had witnessed the lowest turnout in the history of the Iranian elections.

The Iranian government has taken measures to encourage participation in the elections amidst widespread dissatisfaction with establishment policies and economic conditions. These measures include increasing the number of candidates in each electoral district and accepting qualified candidates who have influence in both the political arena and society. Additionally, many political parties have chosen to boycott the elections due to the disqualification of several candidates, particularly those from the "reformist" movement.

At the economic level, Iran's national currency, the toman, experienced a significant devaluation against the US dollar. The exchange rate reached over 58,000 tomans per dollar, indi-

cating a nearly 16% decline from the average exchange rate of September 2023, which was 50,000 tomans per dollar. This decline can be attributed to a sharp decrease in the monetary reserve and a severe shortage of foreign currencies despite significant oil revenues. Additionally, the attack on the US base in Jordan by Iran-backed groups would probably have a profound impact on the Iranian economy, further exacerbating the situation. Given Iran's alleged involvement in the attack, it has faced considerable economic ramifications. This fluctuation in exchange rates led to a loss of public confidence in the national currency. Therefore, many turned to purchasing gold, foreign currencies, real estate and assets in neighboring countries.

At the military level, Iran was confronted with three military fronts simultaneously. In Syria, the government did not show any resistance to Iran's attacks on its own territories. However, the Iraqi government was angered by Iran's aggressive behavior and opposed its attacks on Iraqi territories. Pakistan responded to Iran's hostility through a counterattack and adopted diplomatic measures to express its disapproval. In response, Iran swiftly took measures to defuse tensions and avoid any further escalation with its southern neighbor.

The Israeli war on Gaza has resulted in mounting tensions in the region. To safeguard its influence and prevent the conflict from spilling over to its borders, Iran has taken measures to signal its military capabilities to its adversaries. This has included launching strikes and showcasing its latest advancements in missile arsenal as a deterrent.

The ongoing economic crises have had severe social implications for Iran. One of the most concerning issues is the increasing suicide rate, which has surpassed the global average. This trend is not limited to a specific demographic, with people from all walks of life affected by difficult economic conditions. Despite these challenges, the government has failed to find effective solutions to curb this problem, instead resorting to the same unsuccessful measures due to limited resources. As a result, the situation is expected to continue to escalate and take on new forms.

At the ideological level, the Iranian clerical elite has urged people to participate in the upcoming elections. They used fatwas as a tool to influence people and push them to participate in the elections. However, the government's intensive employment of fatwas through persuasion and intimidation could have a negative backlash, perhaps leading people to boycott the elections in the long run. The clerical elite also used their ideology to frame the government's foreign policy. Semistate and state-run media outlets scathingly attacked the Taliban government over the attacks in Iran's city of Kerman, accusing the Taliban government of creating an enabling environment for the Islamic State Khorasan Province (ISKP) to undertake terrorist activities. The Taliban attempted to defuse tensions and reassure its neighbor Iran by refuting and condemning the Kerman bombings. The movement also refuted having any ties with Jaish al-Adl (Army of Justice). It is worth mentioning that the root causes of the disagreement between the two theocratic ruling systems run far deeper than the latest attacks. There are stark differences in their ideologies, sects (Sunni/Shiite) and religious interpretations of Islam. This is in addition to the historical disagreement between the two nations, Afghanistan and Iran.

Iran's foreign policy witnessed many shifts and developments in January 2024. As for its relations with Arab states. Iran escalated tensions with Iraq following its consecutive attacks on US and Israeli targets (whether directly or indirectly). Directly: the IRGC targeted what it said to be an "Israeli espionage center" in Erbil. Indirectly: the Iranbacked Kata'ib Hezbollah (KH), closest armed group to Iran, targeted the US base, Tower 22, near the border triangle in eastern Jordan under the pretext of placing pressure on Washington and Tel Aviv so they cease the ongoing war in Gaza. This attack is a blatant violation of the sovereignty of the Iraqi state amid rising concerns over the expansion of the conflict due to repeated attacks against US and Israeli targets by armed militias and the US and Israeli retaliation through targeting IRGC leaders and deployments in Iraq and Syria

In Syria, several Iranian commanders were targeted by consecutive Israeli strikes. Indeed, Israel intended to send a specific message to Iran through such strikes. In response, Iranian concerns

increased because Israel is increasing the level of its threats; it has been precisely targeting Iran's top military commanders in Syria.

In Yemen, the Houthis backed Hamas in its war against Israel by launching attacks on vessels passing through the Bab al-Mandab Strait toward Israel. Their attacks resulted in a severe economic crisis worldwide. To ensure safe maritime navigation in the Red Sea, the United States formed a military coalition against the Houthis while also making political and diplomatic efforts to curb their attacks and weaken their fighting capabilities. Despite these efforts, maritime transportation firms remain anxious due to the uncertainty surrounding the future of Israel's war on Gaza. Accordingly, the future of the Red Sea still hangs in the balance.

As for Iran's interactions with the great powers, tensions between Iran and the United States escalated following the recent attack by Iraqi armed groups with links to Iran on a US base in Jordan. This has exacerbated the current diplomatic impasse between the two countries. Both sides are attempting to prevent the situation from escalating into a broader regional con-

flict or a direct confrontation beyond accepted norms, while also focusing on containing the ongoing conflict in Gaza.

As for Iran's relations with Europe, tensions are still present over longstanding thorny disagreements between the two sides. The IAEA reiterated concerns about Iran's advancing nuclear program. The Europeans echoed the position of the UN watchdog. The UK imposed new sanctions on Iran against the backdrop of the Iranian government targeting opponents abroad — an act which Iran continuously denies. As for Iran's policies toward the Middle East, the most prominent development was the Houthi attacks on vessels passing through the Red Sea — in response to Israel's war on Gaza. The UK held Iran accountable for the attacks, claiming Iran directed and supported the Houthis in their attacks. The status quo indicates that escalation will continue between Europe and Iran on the same issues in the upcoming period.

NEW RELEASE

Iran and Cultural Centers in Europe: Roles, Dimensions and Limits of Influence



DEVELOPMENTS IN IRAN'S INTERNAL AFFAIRS

During January 2024, Iran experienced significant developments at the political, economic, military, social and ideological levels. In this section of Rasana's Iran Case File (ICF), we will discuss these developments, highlighting four key topics as follows:

- A Huge Rise in the US Dollar Exchange Rate Against the Iranian Local Currency
- Iran Escalates Tensions Against Neighbors and Launches Three Satellites
- The Politics of Fatwas
- Iranians Escape Their Grim Reality Through Suicide

As Elections Approach, Concerns Over Low **Turnout Mount**

The upcoming elections, parliamentary and the Assembly of Experts, set for early March 2024, hold significant importance for the Iranian establishment as the last two electoral events. the 2020 parliamentary elections and the 2021 presidential elections, witnessed historically low turnouts. This decline was the outcome of excluding the "reformist" and moderate candidates, which fueled public dissatisfaction against the government's policies. These past elections turned into intense power struggles for controlling the Parliament and the presidential office. Despite efforts to boost electoral participation, measures taken by state-affiliated bodies like the Guardian Council, including the exclusion of numerous candidates, may lead to a recurrence of the outcomes of 2020 and 2021 - most prominently low voter turnout.

Parliamentary Elections

The upcoming parliamentary elections on March 1 hold great importance for Iran on multiple fronts. Firstly, they mark the first elections following a series of protests over the past four years, including the recent outcry sparked by the death of Mahsa Amini, a young Kurdish woman, in the custody of the "morality police," which prompted millions to take to the streets across Iranian cities. Secondly, amid escalating public discontent with the ruling establishment's policies and ongoing

economic challenges, there have been widespread calls and threats to boycott both the parliamentary and Assembly of Experts elections.

According to a recent opinion poll conducted by the Iranian Students Polling Agency (ISPA), participation in the upcoming elections could hit its lowest levels since the 1979 revolution led by Khomeini. The results indicate that only 27.9% of citizens are sure to participate, while 36% mentioned that they would not vote. Additionally, there is a low probability of voting for 6.8%, a high probability for 7.4%, and 21.9% of those polled are undecided about whether to participate in the elections.(1)

Amid the looming threat of election boycotts and the potential for a repeat of a historically low turnout, state-affiliated bodies are actively seeking to reinvigorate public interest in the elections and overcome the challenge of low voter participation. To achieve this, they have implemented various measures, including increasing the number of candidates to 48 for each seat, as announced by the Guardian Council's spokesman Hadi Tahan Nazif.(2) Additionally, numerous television channels have been assigned the task of promoting candidates during the electoral campaign. Another measure involves approving the candidacy of prominent and popular figures to attract voters. However, despite these

efforts, scrutiny of the lists of disqualified candidates reveals that the Guardian Council has excluded several wellknown and influential individuals, albeit their number is limited.

For instance, out of the well-known "reformist" and moderate parties, only four expressed their intention to participate in the elections: the Construction Cadres, the National Trust, the Nedaye Iranian Party and the Moderation and Development Party. However, only three candidates representing members of the central councils of these parties received eligibility approval: Muhammad Bagir Nobakht of the Moderation and Development Party, Mohammad Ali Mohseni Bandabi of the Nedaye Iranian Party and Raouf Qaderi of the National Trust Party. Despite 114 official party members announcing their candidacy, only 30 candidates have been approved, leaving the majority disqualified. (3) Moreover, preliminary reports on candidate eligibility reveal numerous "reformist" candidates and some outgoing parliament members have been excluded. These measures contradict the Iranian establishment's aim to increase popular participation and could add impetus to the growing calls to boycott both the parliamentary and Assembly of Experts elections.

Assembly of Experts Elections

The Assembly of Experts elections have drawn interest from 510 individuals, including 13 Sunni scholars, vying for the 88 available seats. (4) On January 24, 2024, Guardian Council Spokesman Hadi Tahan Nazif announced that the jurists had completed reviewing

the candidacy applications for the Assembly of Experts elections. Initially, 138 candidates were deemed eligible. [5] Following discussions on objections raised by some candidates, six more candidates were added, bringing the final tally to 144. [6]

An intriguing development in the upcoming elections is the withdrawal of Ahmed Jannati, who heads both the Assembly of Experts and the Guardian Council, from running due to his advanced age of 96 years. This has sparked speculation about his successor as president of the Assembly of Experts. Some have suggested Iranian President Ebrahim Raisi as a potential candidate, given his eligibility approval by the Guardian Council for the Khorasan Razavi district. However, Raisi's current focus on the presidency and the myriad challenges facing his government may hinder his candidacy for the Assembly of Experts presidency, as he needs to concentrate fully on addressing domestic issues to secure a second term in the presidential elections scheduled for March 2025. Additionally, it is worth noting that Raisi's presidency of the Assembly of Experts would not necessarily facilitate his succession to the supreme leader role. Historically, in 1989, the Assembly of Experts chose Ali Khamenei, who was president at the time, as the successor to Khomeini without him holding the Assembly of Experts presidency. Thus, Raisi's potential ascension to the supreme leader position may not depend on his leadership of the Assembly of Experts.

In a pattern reminiscent of the exclu-

sion of prominent candidates from the parliamentary elections, the Guardian Council also rejected many candidates in the Assembly of Experts elections. Notably, former President Hassan Rouhani, who served three consecutive terms in the council. was denied eligibility to run in these elections. This decision marks Rouhani as the latest president barred from returning to political life, following in the footsteps of Hashemi Rafsanjani and Mahmoud Ahmadinejad, whose attempts to run in presidential elections were unsuccessful. Additionally, Mohammad Khatami, another former president, has faced state-imposed restrictions on his political activities, including media appearances, effectively sidelining him from the political arena. In a statement, Rouhani characterized the decision to exclude him from the elections as politically motivated to benefit individuals who lacked the authority to have a say over the country's interests. He urged the jurists of the Guardian Council to provide clear reasons for his exclusion, emphasizing that the same political motivations had led to the exclusion of thousands of parliamentary candidates. Rouhani asserted that "the revolution belongs to neither a select few nor the nation. and those who exclude honest servants of the nation do not have the right to determine the country's interests."(7) In addition to Rouhani, two of Iran's prominent security figures faced disqualification: Mahmoud Alavi, former minister of intelligence for two consecutive terms during Rouhani's administration, and Mostafa Pourmohammadi,(8) secretary-general of the Association of Combatant Clerics. Alavi, who served as a member of the Assembly of Experts and the Iranian Parliament for four consecutive terms. was among those excluded. Pourmohammadi, who held positions as minister of justice during Rouhani's first presidential term and minister of interior during Ahmadinejad's first presidential term, was also disqualified.

Conclusion

Despite efforts by the Iranian establishment to encourage widespread participation in the parliamentary elections, all signs suggest a potential decrease in voter turnout. further undermining its legitimacy. Regarding the Assembly of Experts elections, excluding influential figures from Iran's political and security spheres exposes the "hardliners" plans to sideline such figures from influencing the selection of the Iranian establishment's third leader. This is particularly significant as the next council's tenure will last until 2032, a lengthy period in which unforeseen developments may necessitate the appointment of a new state leader, according to the "hardliners'" perspective.

A Huge Rise in the US Dollar Exchange Rate Against the Iranian Local Currency

The Iran Case File for January 2024 brings attention to a notable surge in the value of the US dollar compared to the Iranian toman. This spike reflects the heightened demand for the dollar within Iran, further exacerbating the depreciation of the Iranian toman. The file delves into the factors contributing to this decline in the toman's value relative to the dollar, shedding light on Iranian citizens' responses to safeguard their finances against the backdrop of this economic turbulence. Additionally, the file explores the ramifications of the ongoing devaluation of the currency on Iran's domestic economic landscape.

Reasons for Iran's Fluctuating Exchange Rates

Toward the close of January 2024, the US dollar price in Iran experienced a sharp surge, surpassing 58,000 tomans per dollar. This notable uptick occurred against the backdrop of attacks targeting a US base situated on the Syria-Jordan border, resulting in the loss of US soldiers. The escalation amounted to a 16% increase compared to the average price recorded in December, which hovered around 50,000 tomans per dollar.

Following the attacks on a US base in late January, the financial sector in Iran grew increasingly apprehensive about potential ramifications on the Iranian economy. Iranian concerns mounted particularly over the possibility of additional sanctions being imposed if Iran's direct involvement in or connection to the attacks was proven. These concerns compounded existing tensions especially since the Houthis, supported by Iran, started to threaten maritime security in the Red Sea. Furthermore, tensions escalated in the aftermath of the assembly of a US-led multinational naval force to tackle Houthi threats in this important waterway.

The ongoing decline in the value of the Iranian currency is rooted in various underlying factors. Among these are dwindling cash reserves, which have reached their lowest levels, and a severe shortage of foreign currencies despite revenues from oil exports. However, financial transfers face significant impediments because of oil and banking sanctions. Additionally, there is a growing domestic demand for US dollars for the sake of money transfers and purchases of assets abroad. This issue of currency devaluation is not new but has escalated significantly since the reinstatement of US sanctions on Iran in 2018, as illustrated in Figure 1. Over more than six years, the US dollar has consistently appreciated against a backdrop of Iranian currency devaluation, as depicted in Figure 1.

usd 60000 50000 40000 30000 20000

Figure 1: Price of the US Dollar Against the Iranian Toman (January 2014 - January 2024)

Source: Bonbast, https://www.bonbast.com/graph.

Despite the founding of the "Currency and Gold Exchange Center" a year ago in February 2023, efforts to stem the influx of foreign currencies have proven to be rather ineffective. The center was created to mitigate the surge in foreign currency prices by offering Iranian export funds to importers and merchants at variable prices as an alternative to the parallel market. However, its pricing mechanism was not entirely liberalized and remained below the free market rate. Consequently, three distinct exchange rates persist in Iran: the official government rate reserved for the import of select strategic goods and medicine, the rate set by the currency and gold exchange center, and the parallel market rate, which commands the highest price and is the most actively traded, reflecting the dynamics of supply and demand.

Iranian Responses to the **Devaluation of the Local Currency** and the Impact on Living Conditions

Iranians are accustomed to the consistent depreciation of their currency against foreign currencies. Over the period spanning from the early 1970s to 2021 (1350-1400 Hijri Shamsi), foreign currency values surged by a staggering 3,500-fold. In stark contrast, the minimum wage witnessed a far more modest increase, rising by no more than 1,400-fold from the 1980s to 2021. This stark juxtaposition highlights the enduring disparity between currency devaluation and wage growth experienced by the Iranian population.

As a consequence of enduring decades of economic sanctions and witnessing successive declines in the value of the Iranian currency against foreign counterparts over the years (as detailed in Rasanah's monthly reports for January and February 2023)(9), the confidence of the Iranian people in holding onto the real value of their wealth in the local currency has dwindled. Consequently, many are inclined to invest in gold and foreign currencies, which they perceive as offering greater stability, in an effort to safeguard their wealth amid looming geopolitical uncertainties. This shift in investment patterns reflects a proactive approach by individuals to shield their finances, anticipating potential disruptions in Iranian exchange markets, a pattern observed in recent years. Additionally, some opt to liquidate their assets in Iran to acquire others abroad, such as real estate investments in neighboring countries like Turkey, contributing further to the local demand for the US dollar.

Looking ahead, it is evident that sharp fluctuations in exchange rates will yield adverse impacts on the standard of living in Iran. This is anticipated to manifest in heightened inflation rates and a consequent decline in the purchasing power of Iranians, particularly impacting food prices which are highly responsive to foreign exchange fluctuations (a significant portion of critical food items are imported). As a result, inflationary pressures will further diminish the value of money, posing challenges for salary earners and wage workers despite projected annual salary increases of around 20% in the upcoming budget. However, with expected inflation hovering about 40%, a substantial 20% gap emerges, signifying a considerable decline in the purchasing power of Iranians and exacerbating the pressures on daily life.

Conclusion

In January, Iran experienced significant exchange rate volatility, marked by a sharp 16% increase in the value of the US dollar, nearing the threshold of 60 thousand tomans per dollar. Several factors contributed to this surge, including sanctions and other economic dynamics. Consequently, societal reactions ensued, with a notable trend toward hedging against this phenomenon, indicative of the Iranian people comprehending the negative impact of this trend on their real wealth and purchasing power. This is particularly concerning given the relatively modest salary growth; thereby, this trend is likely to have a great impact on daily routines and the future prospects of the Iranian people.

Iran Escalates Tensions Against Neighbors and Launches Three Satellites

Iran began 2024 with aggressive vigor by attacking three Muslim countries besides sending four satellites into space amidst escalating tensions with the United States in light of the deaths of US servicemen in a drone attack on a US base on the Syria-Jordan border. Iran fired salvoes of missiles and drones on Syria, Iraq and Pakistan against what it claimed to be Israeli targets in response to the dual bombings in the city of Kerman that killed dozens and injured hundreds on January 3. The bombings occurred while people gathered to commemorate the killing of Qassem Soleimani, who headed the Quds Force. This part of the ICF for January 2024 discusses the rising tensions between Pakistan and Iran. Iran's missile and drone attacks on Syria and Iraq, and finally Iran's launch of Simorgh and Oaem-100

Pakistan-Iran Tensions

Iran's firing of missiles and its dispatch of drones killed two Pakistanis and injured three others in the Pakistani province of Balochistan. (10) Tehran alleged that it targeted the bases of Jaish al-Adl (Army of Justice), a Sunni separatist group that operates in Iran's Sistan-Balochistan Province, which according to the Iranians is allegedly funded by the CIA and Mossad. Not only did Islamabad reject Tehran's claim of the presence of terrorists on its side but also condemned the act as a violation of its sovereignty. Within 48 hours, Pakistan

recalled its ambassador, terminated ongoing naval wargames and suspended all other high-level exchanges while asking Iran's envoy who was on a trip to his home country, to not return. As its warship reached sovereign waters, Islamabad launched a coordinated land and air attack against nine hideouts of Baloch militants, 50 kilometers inside Iran, killing nine guerrilla commanders. Iran confirmed the fatalities caused by the attack but refrained from escalating tensions further. Thanks to Chinese mediation. Pakistan and Iran agreed to resume bilateral ties and Iran's Foreign Minister Hossein Amir-Abdollahian visited Islamabad on January 29. The neighboring countries share a 900-kilometer sparsely manned border, which is prone to human, drug and arms smuggling.

Prior to the thaw, Pakistani authorities arrested a Zeinabiyoun operative in Karachi for the attempted assassination of Mufti Taqi Usmani in 2019, a renowned Pakistani religious scholar. (11) On January 16, Pakistani authorities rounded up four suspects affiliated with Zeinabiyoun, including the militia's mastermind, for their alleged involvement in the assassination of a prominent religious figure, who was gunned down on January 5.(12)

Two days prior to Abdollahian's visit, nine Pakistani laborers were murdered in Iran's Sistan-Balochistan Province. responsibility for which was claimed by the Baloch Liberation Army. (13) Pakistan,-Iran relations will not be the same again, as Islamabad has deployed missile and anti-craft batteries on the border besides other medium to long-term measures being carried out. In their meeting to de-escalate the situation, the foreign ministers of the two neighboring countries agreed "to immediately appoint liaison officers in Turbat and Zahedan to further strengthen ongoing security and intelligence cooperation." [14]

Iranian Attacks on Syria and Iraq

The IRGC's ballistic missiles targeted an alleged Mossad spy base in Erbil besides what Iran designates as "anti-Iran terror groups" in Syria. Iran claimed that the missile strike in Iraq destroyed "one of the main espionage bases of Israel."

"These headquarters have been the center for developing espionage operations and planning terrorist acts" in the region and Iran." The IRGC also struck several other locations in Erbil targeting "sites of Iranian opposition groups." Four civilians were killed and six others were injured in the attack.(15) "The Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC) in response to recent aggressions by the Zionist regime resulting in the martyrdom of IRGC commanders and members of the Resistance Front . . . targeted and destroyed one of the main espionage centers of the Zionist regime (Mossad) in the Kurdistan Region of Iraq using ballistic missiles. This center has been the hub for developing espionage operations and designing terrorist activities in the region, especially in our beloved country," the IRGC statement said. (16)

Iraq's Foreign Minister Fuad Hussein said no Mossad-affiliated centers were operating in Erbil, classifying the strikes as a "violation of international law."

"The Iranians don't want to or cannot attack Israel. They search for victims around them, and so they attack Erbil," said Iraq's foreign minister. [17] Iran also targeted the villa of a Kurdish businessman whom it alleged was working with Israel.

The IRGC said it fired ballistic missiles at bases of "anti-Iran terror groups in occupied territories of Syria." (18)

After Kata'ib Hezbollah, an Iragi militant group affiliated with Iran's Quds Force, attacked a US base in Jordan, located on the junction of its border with Syria and Iraq, killing three troops and injuring 40, Iran has been bracing for impact. The country's air defense and missile forces were put on high alert. The militant group, meanwhile, absolved Iran of all responsibility for the drone strike after the US president vowed to avenge the US soldiers' blood. Kata'ib Hezbollah's statement read. "Our brothers in the resistance. especially in the Islamic Republic, do not even know the nature of our jihad/ military operations. Many times they even objected to pressure and escalation against the Americans in Iraq and Syria."(19)

Successful Launches of Simorgh and Qaem-100

In demonstration of its defiance, Iran launched three satellites for the first time using Simorgh, its carrier rocket developed by the Ministry of Defense and Armed Forces Logistics from the

Imam Khomeini Space Center in Semnan Province. The three satellites -Mahd weighing 32 kilograms, besides two less than 10 kilograms (nano) satellites, named Kayhan-2 and Hatef-1 - "were put at altitudes between 450 kilometers and 1.100 kilometers above the Earth's surface."(20) The satellites are to test narrowband communication and geopositioning technology. The space launch vehicle (SLV) Simorgh was plagued with failures. Earlier on January 21, Iran launched the Sorava satellite into low Earth orbit with the Qaem-100 SLV developed by the IRGC Aerospace Force. The threestage solid-fuel ballistic missile hurled the satellite placing it in an orbit 750

"The IRGC will conduct the test launch of 'Qaem-105' next year. Within the next three years. Iran will test launch the 'Oaem-120' satellite carrier, which is planned to send satellites into an orbit of 36,000 kilometers above the Earth." Commander of the IRGC Aerospace Force's Space Division General Ali Jafarabadi stated. (22) Iran's first military satellite, Noor-I, was launched in April 2020 followed by Noor-II in March 2022 via the Qassed SLV. Iran's space ambitions are viewed with much suspicion as the same technology is essential for the development of a longrange ballistic missile system.

kilometers above the Earth's surface in

Conclusion

11 minutes. (21)

With much of the UNSC sanctions lifted, its missile technology reaching maturity and Russia committed to deliver its 4++ generation Su-35 fighter jets along with gunships and radar, Iran is preparing for full-scale confrontation with its foes. The Russia-Ukraine war has benefited Iran as it has distracted the world from its nuclear program. The Israel-Hamas war and the Houthi attacks in the Red Sea are thickening the smokescreen Tehran needs to realize for its stratagem. Despite opening so many fronts, Iran's enemies remain divided and confused

Iranians Escape Their Grim Reality Through Suicide

Iranians face numerous problems and diminishing future prospects, with many turning to suicide to escape their grim reality amid unresolved crises. The surge in suicide rates has led to discussions in the Iranian media about this concerning trend. Rather than abating, the phenomenon is escalating in both scale and scope, impacting diverse social and age demographics. The phenomenon is rooted in political, economic, social and cultural factors and it risks exacerbating societal divisions and amplifying the failure of the ruling elite, especially in the absence of a coherent approach or strategy to tackle this issue.

Iran's Suicide Crisis

In Iran, suicide is a concerning issue, with the country ranking 130th out of 180 nations in terms of suicide rates. The suicide index stands at 7.4 per 100,000 people. However, the index may not fully capture the extent of the problem, as it excludes attempted suicides and cases hidden by families, which often go unrecorded. Suicide is prevalent across various provinces, particularly in areas facing challenging socioeconomic conditions. Moreover, it impacts all segments of Iranian society, spanning from the elderly to teenagers and young adults, regardless of their employment status. As such, the actual prevalence of suicide is likely higher than official indexes or statistics suggest. (23)

The suicide crisis in Iran is multifaceted, with economic, social and psychological factors contributing to its prevalence. Nearly 40% of Iranians live in abject poverty and suffer injustice and inequality. (24) Economically, a significant proportion of Iranians face extreme poverty, exacerbated by widespread unemployment and low wages. (25) Socially, issues like domestic violence and forced marriages(26) add to the crisis, along with high rates of misery, depression and mental health issues. (27) While various reports and analyses acknowledge the phenomenon's complexity, economic hardship appears to be the primary driver, with the situation worsening over the years. This has led to suicide impacting not merely the unemployed, but also educated individuals who feel their careers and financial prospects are not in line with their qualifications, leaving them torn between emigration and suicide. Additionally, societal changes, including alienation and drug abuse, are contributing to the suicide crisis in the country. Moreover, the impact of religious values and principles declined among many Iranians because of corruption perceived in the clerical establishment.

Government's Response

The Iranian government has attempted to tackle the suicide crisis through various means. Initially, it established a widespread social support system to

alleviate poverty, including the founding of 4.000 charities for the underprivileged. However, this initiative was unexpectedly halted, with the budget for 2024 not earmarking specific provisions for aiding the aforesaid segment of people. (28) A poverty eradication plan involving government-issued vouchers for access to critical goods was implemented to ease pressures on family expenses and support mental and social well-being. The introduction of the 1570 emergency line, providing free psychological counseling services for students and parents, supplemented the mentioned initiatives. (29) Despite these efforts, suicide rates continue to rise unabated, suggesting that the current policies serve merely as temporary remedies rather than addressing root issues. Consequently, there is a pressing need for comprehensive institutional reforms and strategic shifts in domestic policies to navigate effectively the economic and social crises plaguing the country.

Conclusion

The ongoing shortcomings in socioeconomic policies in Iran could exacerbate the suicide crisis, with government interventions hindered by the absence of a cohesive approach or strategy to address the root causes of the suicide crisis. Ultimately, the Iranian government's decisions over the years are to blame for the country's suicide crisis. Of note is the failure of the religious dimension, an aspect that is integral to the Iranian government, to provide a convincing narrative to dissuade Iranians from contemplating suicide, given its prohibition in Islamic law.

The Politics of Fatwas

Fatwas (religious edicts) are considered among the most important tools utilized by the Iranian establishment to achieve its political objectives and convince its supporters and popular incubators of its policies. It conveys to the masses that its policies are based on an accurate reading of religion, given that they are in line with religious edicts and juristic deductions. As the parliamentary elections scheduled for March 1 draw near, the Iranian government is grappling with political adversaries who are calling for boycotting the elections. In response, the government has resorted to issuing a religious decree rendering electoral participation obligatory. Beyond this maneuver, the government is also employing ideology as a tool in its foreign policy, notably highlighted in the ideological clash between Iran and the Taliban following the Kerman bombings.

Elections and the Political Employment of Fatwas

Wilayat-al Faqih loyalists and traditionalists in Iran often invoke religious decrees to legitimize or enact political decisions. (30) Lately, there have been widespread calls to boycott the upcoming parliamentary elections in Iran with critics insisting that the elections will be rigged. Nevertheless, official and semi-official Iranian newspapers have urged citizens to engage actively in the electoral process. Additionally, certain jurists have voiced their support for participation, encouraging people to participate in the elections.

Khamenei and mandatory partici**pation**: Supreme Leader Ali Khamenei characterized the calls to boycott the elections as "hostile acts" which are contradictory to Islam. He made these remarks during a meeting with a group of maddahs (eulogists) in which he discussed the parliamentary and Assembly of Experts elections. During the meeting, Khamenei highlighted that some individuals aim to undermine the integrity of the elections and spread despair among the populace, alleging that such actions run counter to the principles of Islam and the "Islamic Republic."(31)

Khamenei underscored the essential nature of public participation, framing it as both a duty and a right of the people. He emphasized that elections serve as a crucial mechanism for individuals to select legislators, law enforcers, and members of the Assembly of Experts. By labeling elections as "necessary" and "obligatory," Khamenei imbues these terms with significant legal implications. Consequently, he asserted that it is not permissible for voters to boycott the elections despite acknowledging that the decision to boycott is — just like participation fundamentally a political act.

Sham elections: The supreme leader's remarks coincided with increasing dissent from the reformists, moderates and other factions because of efforts to sideline and prevent their participation in the elections. Hassan Rouhani voiced his frustration over the alleged

manipulation and lack of authenticity in the electoral process, stating, "If people believe that their involvement in the elections can make a difference in their lives, they will participate." However, he emphasized that people are unlikely to engage if they perceive their participation or non-participation to be inconsequential. (32) He emphasized the significance of political diversity in elections, stressing that it is not solely about the quantity of candidates. He cautioned against individuals believing that ballot boxes hold no value, stating, "Our efforts must concentrate on ensuring that ballot boxes play a definitive role in fostering societal progress. If ballot boxes are compromised, we will be left with nothing." He further warned of dire consequences if ballot boxes are disregarded, predicting potential violent upheaval. He asserted that there is no substitute for the current system and advocated for reform as the sole path forward. (33) Rouhani issued a stark warning of potential violent upheaval if the people's will is disregarded in the electoral process while simultaneously advocating for reforming the system from within. This is not the first time that Rouhani has characterized Iranian elections as fraudulent and manipulated; he has done so in the past, even during his tenure as president. Sheikh Haider Hoballah correlates the fraudulent nature of the elections with the supreme leader's absolute guardianship. The supreme leader's legitimacy stems from God and the Infallible Imam, not from electoral processes, rendering his actions immune to the

influence of elections or the opinion of the masses. (34)

The Taliban and Iran: Centrality of Ideology

The Taliban swiftly denounced the Kerman bombings in Iran, which claimed the lives of numerous individuals and injured countless others in early January 2024. The attack occurred near the shrine of Qassem Soleimani, a site of significant symbolism as it represents the IRGC and the "Islamic Revolution." In response to Pakistani media reports suggesting a close connection between the Taliban and Jaish al-Adl (Army of Justice), the Taliban refuted any association with the group. (35)

The Iranian response to the Taliban: Following the twin bombings near the shrine of Oassem Soleimani in Kerman, Iran, which caused fatalities and injuries, the Islamic State Khorasan Province (ISKP) claimed responsibility for the attacks. In response, Iran conducted airstrikes on targets in Syria, Iraqi Kurdistan, and near the Pakistani border. Iranian media intensified accusations against the Taliban, alleging that they created an environment conducive to extremist activities within Afghan territories. However, Taliban officials refuted claims of facilitating ISKP movements toward Iranian cities. accusing the United States of attempting to sow discord between the Taliban and regional countries, notably Iran. (36) Despite tensions, the Afghan Foreign Ministry, now under Taliban control, issued an official statement expressing condolences to Iran and reaffirming solidarity with the Iranian government and its people. (37) Despite condemnations from some Taliban officials, doubts persisted regarding the Taliban's position on the Kerman bombings, with accusations of Kabul sympathizing with the attackers and terror attacks. Former Iranian Ambassador to Afghanistan Mohammad Reza Bahrami criticized what he termed as the Taliban's "malicious behavior" concerning the Kerman incident, particularly noting the absence of the term "terrorist" in their condemnation. (38) Iranian media adopted an aggressive stance against the Taliban, labeling them as a terrorist organization and alleging their alignment with the global powers of arrogance such as the United States and the UK.

The roots of ideological differences: Iran's perception of the Taliban-ISKP conflict is complex. While Tehran acknowledges the deep-rooted animosity between the Taliban and ISKP, it remains vigilant against ISKP gaining ground in Afghanistan. Iran aims to exert political pressure on the Taliban government due to religious, sectarian and political differences. Issues like water disputes and border conflicts exacerbate tensions between the two sides. Iran capitalized on the Kerman bombings to accuse the Taliban of either supporting terrorism or failing to combat it effectively. These accusations even extended to portraying the Taliban as a tool of global imperial powers, especially of the United States. These accusations reflected the underlying discord between Iran and the Taliban. Tehran's concerns extend beyond mere security and include apprehensions regarding a traditionalist Sunni presence on their eastern border, fearing potential alliances with Pakistan and other Sunni powers like Saudi Arabia and Turkey to the West. Overall, the ascension of the Taliban to power and the establishment of the Islamic emirate have sparked concerns in Iran, leading to strained relations between the two sides. Mutual accusations exacerbate tensions, with the Taliban accusing Iran of supporting and arming Afghan Shiite groups. At the same time, Iran accuses the Taliban of adopting a lenient policy toward ISKP. This discord reflects a broader ideological dispute rooted in the Sunni-Shiite divide, with each party representing the classical interpretation of their respective beliefs. Both the Taliban and Iran are actively engaged in political activism, heightening the potential for conflict. However, the Taliban harbors genuine fears of Iranian hegemony, viewing Tehran's actions as a threat to its religious principles. Iran's aspirations for dominance over its neighbors, exemplified by airstrikes in Pakistan, clash with the Taliban's religious principles; the group rejects outside guardianship. These ideological and geopolitical tensions complicate efforts to achieve balanced relations between the two parties.

Conclusion

The Iranian establishment is employing religious decrees to counter opposition calls for boycotting elections, thus asserting their legitimacy and necessity. The supreme leader's endorsement underscores the ruling elite's concern over boycott movements potentially tarnishing the elec-

toral process. Concurrently, the Iranian government persists in employing ideological strategies in external conflicts, exemplified by its media campaign against the Taliban following the Kerman bombings. This offensive underscores deep-seated ideological disparities and elite apprehensions about the emergence of another Sunni power along Iran's eastern border. Consequently, Iran seeks to exert political and religious pressure on the Taliban while aiming to embarrass it in the international context.

ENDNOTES

- (1) اكو ايران، نتايج نظرسنجى ايسپا درباره مشاركت در انتخابات 1402، (6 آذر 1402هـش)، تاريخ الاطلاع: 5 فبراير 2024م، https://2u.pw/wzPyk6P، (2) فرارو، به ازاى هر كرسى مجلس ۴۸ نفر كانديدا هستند، (18 بهمن 1402هـش)، تاريخ الاطلاع: 5 فبراير 2024م.https://2u.pw/wzPyk6P
- (3) بازى با اعداد، تاكتيك جديد شوراي نگهبان براي انتخابات مجلس دوازدهم، (17 دي 1402هـش)، تاريخ الاطلاع: 5 فبراير 2024هـ براير 2024م
 - (4) خبر آنلاین، رقابت ۵۱۰ نفر بر سر ۸۸ کرسی مجلس خبرگان /قم صدرنشین شد، تهران عقب افتاد ۱۲/ کاندیدای اهل سنت هم آمدند، (21 آبان 1402هـ..ش)، تاریخ الاطلاع: 6 فیرایر 2024م لله: https://2u.pw/HBtPrIJ
- (5) شورای نگهبان، تنایج بررسی صلاحیتهای انتخابات مجلس خبرگان رهبری مشخص شد/ بیش از ۲۵۰ داوطلب دیگر برای انتخابات مجلس شورای اسلامی تایید شدند. (15 بهمن 1402هـش)، تاریخ الاطلاع: 2 فبرایر 2024م،https://2u.pw/xce7TCv
- (6) خبر آنلاین، اعلام تعداد نهایی نامزدهای انتخابات مجلس خبرگان/ اسامی به وزارت کشور ارسال شد، (18 بهمن 1402ه.ش)، تاریخ الاطلاع: 6 فبرایر 2024م.https://2u.pw/yF8T3GM
- (7) بن بی سی فارسی، روحانی از شورای نگهبان خواست دلایل رد صلاحیت او برای مجلس خبرگان را علنی کند. (4 بهمن 1402هــش)، تاریخ الاطلاع: 7 فبرایر 2024هـ،https://2u.pw/UGgopiw
- (8) ساعت 24. پزشکیان: پورمحمدی و علوی بدون تایید رهبری نمیتوانستند وزیر شوند/ FATF را فریاد می زدند، می گفتند خیانت است، امروز امضا کردند، می گویند دستاورد است!. (9 بهمن 1402هـش)، تاریخ الاطلاع: 7 فبرایر 2024م.https://2u.pw/kNaIc1D
- (9) ساعت 24. پزشکیان: پورمحمدی و علوی بدون تایید رهبرّی نمیتوانستند وزیر شوند/ FATF را فریاد می زدند، می گفتند خیانت است، امروز امضا کردند، می گویند دستاورد است!. (9 بهمن 1402هـش)، تاریخ الاطلاع: 7 فبرایر 2024م.https://2u.pw/kNaIc1D
- (10) John Davison, "What Is Behind Iran-Pakistan Attacks and Could Conflict Escalate?" Reuters, January 19, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/9Eb7R2q.
- (11) "Amid Rising Tensions With Iran, Pakistani Police Say Member Of Iranian-Backed Militant Group Arrested In Karachi," RFE/RL's Radio Mashaal, January 21, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/lecslS0.
- (12) Israr Ahmad, "IB, Islamabad Police Nab 4 Suspects Involved in Killing of Allama Masood ur Rehman Usmani," *The Nation*, January 17, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/pyuIMXR.
- (13) "Gunmen Kill Nine Pakistani Nationals in Southeastern Iran," Al Jazeera, January 27, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/6Qwva4G.
- (14) Baqir Sajjad Syed, "Pakistan, Iran to Enforce Pacts for Terror Eradication," *Dawn*, January 30, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/kPKCeaE.
- (15) "Iran Not to Tolerate 'Any Israeli Operation From Any Country': Official," *Tasnim News Agency*, January 18, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/QRD1q8r.
- (16) Ibid.
- (17) Hamdi Alkhshali, Nechirvan Mando and Helen Regan, "Iran Launches Missile Strikes in Northern Iraq and Syria, Claims to Destroy Israeli Spy Base," CNN, January 16, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/x85KR6h.
- (18) Ibio
- (19) "Iran Not Seeking War With US But 'Not Afraid Of It', Says Military Chief," *The Guardian*, January 31, 2023, accessed February 12, 2024, https://bit.ly/3wjA0IP.
- (20) "Iran Receives First Signals From Mahda Satellite: Minister," IRNA, January 28, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/mf3ptRe.
- (21) "Iran to Develop Satellite Carrier for Geostationary Orbit Launch," *Tasnim News Agency*, January 21, 2024, accessed February 1, 2024, https://2u.pw/mf3ptRe.
- (22) Ibid.
- (23) موقع الحلم العربي، تسونامي الانتحار في إيران (1 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع 15 يناير 2024م، https://bit.ly/3umZTqp
- (24) موقع ايران اليوم، 40% من سكان ايران تعت خط الفقر المدفع (19يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع 23 يناير 20224م، https://bit.ly/3u5CkCB
- (25) موقع صوت أمريكا، وسائل الإعلام الإيرانية تتحدث عن معدل أنتحار أعلى 5 مرات في المجتمع الطبي (21 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع 23 يناير 2024م، https://bit.ly/3ukXL20
- (26) موقع راديو زمانه، الانتحار هو اسم آخر للوفيات المنهجية للفتيات القاصرات (15 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع 20 يناير 2024م، -2024 https://bit.ly/49eY
- (27) موقع صوت أمريكا، ارتفاع التضخم ومعدل البطالة في مؤشر البؤس في 14 محافظة إيرانية (9 يناير 2024م) تاريخ الاطلاع 20 يناير 2024م، //bit.ly/3OpTody
- (28) موقع Rokna. الأطفال والفقر المدقع ومشروع قانون الميزانية 1403، (5 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع 19 يناير 2024م، https://bit. (5 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع 17 يناير 2024م، 2024م، https://bit. (2024موقع مركز عدالت براى كودكان، الزواج القسري 20% من حالات الانتحار في إيران (12 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع 17 يناير 2024م، https://bit.
- (م.) (م.) أيران أيترناشيونال، صحف إيران: الانتقام "الفوري" لضحايا كرمان. والتقصير الأمني. وإسرائيل تتبرأ من التفجير، 04 يناير 2024م (تاريخ اطلاع: 29 بناير 2024م). https://bit.ly/3vR4DVM
 - (31) وكالة مُهِر للأنباء، رهبر انقلاب در ديدار اثمه جمعه سراسر كشور: حضور در انتخابات صرفاً تكليف نيست حق مردم است، 14 يناير 2024م (تاريخ اطلاع: 33 غيراير 2024م). http://tinyurl.com/bd645n6j https://bit.ly/3vR4DVM
 - (32) خبر أون لاین، حسن روحانی: صندوق رأی تخریب شده وباید آن را احیا کنیم/ هر تلاشی برای براندازی صندوق رأی منجر به براندازی نظام می شود، 05 بنایر 2024 (تاریخ اطلاع: 33 فبرایر 2024م). https://2u.pw/FWuMQAK
 - .1010 (33)

https://2u.pw/Fn0CF7E.(2024

- (34) راجع: د. محمد السلمي، ومحمد الصياد، الفقهاء والحاكمية في إيران، (السعودية: رصانة، 2023م)، ص121-120.
- (35) وكالة إيرنا، حكومت افغانستان هيچ ارتباطى با گروه تروريستى جيش الظلم نداريم، (تاريخ الاطلاع: 28 يناير 2024م) WEO5PfD/pw.2u/:https (36) سلام نيوز، سخنگوى طالبان: داعش در افغانستان نابود شده است و توانايى انجام حمله به كرمان را ندارد، 7 يناير 2024، تاريخ الاطلاع: 28 يناير
- (37) وكالة دانشجو، طالبان: مراتب عميق همدردى خود را با دولت وملت ايران ابراز مىكنيم، 60 يناير 2024م (تاريخ اطلاع: 28 يناير 2024م). //http://
- (38) اقتصاد نیوز، شیطنتی که طالبان کرد/ واکنش خبرساز به حادثه تروریستی کرمان + عکس، 60 ینایر 2024م (تاریخ اکلاع: 28 ینایر 2024م). //:http:// tinyurl.com/5n6mesux

IRAN-ARAB INTERACTIONS

The Middle East witnessed a flurry of activity in January 2024, with Iran taking center stage in its interactions with some Arab countries. The situation escalated significantly, with mounting tension in Iraq after Iran's attacks on US and Israeli targets, and Kata'ib Hezbollah's attack on a US base in eastern Jordan. Meanwhile, Israel responded with a series of strikes targeting top commanders in the IRGC, and the Houthis faced a backlash from the West for their attacks on vessels passing through the Red Sea to Israel. In this section of Rasanah's ICF, we will explore these three prominent developments as follows:

- Iranian Tensions Reemerge in Iraq
- Iranian-Israeli-Russian Triangle of Tensions in Syria
- Western Confrontations With the Houthis in the Red Sea

Iranian Tensions Reemerge in Iraq

Tensions have been mounting in the Middle East since Operation Al-Aqsa Flood and Israel's large-scale war in the Gaza Strip. As a consequence, Iraq witnessed in January 2024 a new spike in tensions because of Iran's aggression against US and Israeli targets under the pretext of pressuring Washington and Tel Aviv to end the war in Gaza. Iranian aggression was carried out either directly through the IRGC or indirectly through its deployed armed militias in Iraq. Both clearly violated Iraqi sovereignty and Iran exploited the territorial integrity of an Arab state that is working to achieve security and stability and limit its domestic crises which have deepened mainly because of Iranian interventions.

Iranian Attacks on Erbil and the **Border Triangle**

Iranian attacks targeting Israeli and US targets took place in two Iraq regions. The first, Erbil, where the IRGC announced on January 2024 that it had launched around 24 missiles targeting an alleged Mossad spy headquarters in this city, the capital of Iraqi Kurdistan. (1) These launches were part of a series of strikes targeting Israeli spy headquarters and anti-Iran groups in Iraq and Syria. However, Israel did not comment on the Iranian allegation. The IRGC strikes killed four Iragis and wounded six others.

The second is the Iraq-Jordan-Syria border triangle. The Iraqi Hezbollah, the closest armed militia to Iran, according to US officials, targeted the US base, Tower 22, near the triangle border region in northeastern Jordan on January 28. The targeting of this base was a serious turning point in the escalation trajectory in the region because of US casualties. The Biden administration held Iran and its armed groups, especially the Iraqi Hezbollah, responsible for the attacks on Tower 22.(2) Many experts expected that the US retaliation would be firm to send strong deterrence messages to Iran and its armed groups. In addition, this US response would impact the headquarters of pro-Iranian armed groups in Iraq or Syria or both, or keep in place the scenario of assassinations carried out indirectly inside Iran.

Iranian attacks targeting US and Israeli targets, which were mostly carried out by drones loaded with explosives and ballistic missiles, are part of a new round of violence in the Middle East. These attacks occurred against the backdrop of fears of broader regional conflict because of the eruption of the Gaza war and the subsequent waves of escalation between pro-Iran armed militias, the United States and Israel in Iraq, Syria and the Red Sea. In their retaliatory responses, the United States and Israel targeted many IRGC commanders in Syria. Many experts read the Iranian attacks in the context of the Gaza war and analyze their ramifications for regional security.

The Iranian attacks also happened a few days after Iranian threats to avenge the Kerman bombings that took place

near the tomb of Qassim Soleimani, the former Quds Force chief. Iranians were holding a ceremony to mark the anniversary of his death; he was killed via a US drone strike near Baghdad International Airport in January 2020. The red flag of revenge was raised above the dome of the famous Jamkaran Mosque in Qom, south of the capital, Tehran, to signify the necessity of avenging the dozens of deaths and injuries at Kerman.

The Iranian attacks in Erbil, unlike past ones, occurred from a distance of 1,200 kilometers, with missiles flying through Iraqi airspace over US sites and targets. These attacks carried an important message for Washington and Tel Aviv: Iran has missile capability, range and accuracy to hit specific targets.

Iran employed the attacks targeting US interests to pressure Washington and Tel Aviv to end the Gaza war. Many observers believe that Iran has a number of goals that are motivating its continuous attacks. The most notable goals are to pressure the United States to pull out its forces from Iraq, prevent further assassinations of Iranian commanders in Iraq and Syria and any subversive operations in the Iranian interior as well as forcing the Iraqi Kurdistan government to shut down Israeli spy centers. The Iranian-Kurdish opposition strongly oppose the Iranian government's policies with it exploiting the turbulence in the Middle East.

Iraq's Response

Iraq took a stance on the Iranian strikes that targeted Erbil and the border triangle region. The Iraqi leadership stated that these Iranian incursions violated Iraqi sovereignty and security and breached the Iran-Iraq security agreement, under which Iran agreed to cease its military operations in Iraq. Iraqi President Abdul Latif Rashid stated that the Iranian attacks violated Iraqi sovereignty and undermined security and stability. Iraqi Prime Minister Mohammed Shia' al-Sudani also condemned the strikes, describing them as an outright aggression on Iraqi territory and he called for diplomatic and legal measures to protect the country's national security. Iraqi National Security Advisor Qasem al-Araji denied the existence of Mossad headquarters in Erbil and dismissed the Iranian allegations as completely unfounded.

The Iraqi prime minister also ordered the formation of a committee headed by the national security adviser to investigate the Iranian attacks and Iran's allegations of the existence of Mossad spy headquarters in Erbil. The Iraqi Foreign Ministry summoned Iran's charge d'affaires, handed him a note of protest over the attacks and recalled the Iraqi ambassador in Tehran for consultations.

A day after the strikes, the Iraqi Foreign Ministry also filed a complaint by addressing two identical letters to both the secretary-general of the United Nations and the president of the UN Security Council over Iranian aggression on Iraqi territory. The complaint included that the pretexts and allegations made by Iran to justify its attacks on Erbil with ballistic missiles were fake and that they breached the sovereignty of a neighboring state that

is a member of the United Nations and violated the principle of good-neighborliness.(3) This complaint reflected Irag's full awareness of the risks posed by Iran for the future of the Iraqi state. The Iraqi government needs to exert more effort to control the proliferation of uncontrolled weapons to safeguard the country's national interests and its future relations with regional partners.

The Kurdistan regional government and the people of the region rejected Iranian aggression via different methods. These methods ranged from official condemnations, popular protests and the call of the Chambers of Commerce to boycott Iranian products as a pressure card in response to Iran's frequent attacks on the region. This was a surprising stance taken by Iraqi traders for the first time in Iraqi Kurdistan, which is an important market for Iranian products. The volume of trade exchange between Iran and Iraqi Kurdistan reportedly ranges annually from \$6 billion to \$8 billion, (4) primarily constituting Iranian exports to the region. Construction materials and food items ranked first in Iranian exports to the region. The geographical proximity and the low cost of transportation play a role in advancing bilateral trade relations. About 400 trucks loaded with Iranian goods enter the region every day. (5) Therefore, the region is an important market for Iran, especially with Iran's need for hard currency. The region needs Iranian products for their low cost compared to other alternatives, which are expensive for the Kurdish interior.

Conclusion

Iran is using both direct and indirect escalation tactics against US and Israeli targets to strengthen its regional influence since the onset of the Gaza war. By doing so, Iran aims to highlight the strength of its regional influence and pressure the United States to withdraw its forces from Iraq. This is part of Iran's expansionist project, which disregards the interests, security and stability of its neighbors. Unfortunately, this project is having negative consequences for the Iraqi and Syrian people, who are paying the price. It is also adversely affecting the future of their growing relations with Arab countries in the region.

Iranian-Israeli-Russian Triangle of Tensions in Syria

With the onset of 2024 and amid the ongoing Israeli war on Gaza with its numerous repercussions sparking regional and international concern, the ripple effect of the events in Gaza on the Syrian scene has garnered significant attention. This encompasses the stances taken, the on-the-ground realities and the influence on stakeholders active within Syria. This part of the ICF for January discusses Israel's strategy of escalation which shifted toward executing qualitative, high-impact strikes aimed at the leadership of Iran's Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC) in Syria.

Israel's Targeting of Iranian Leaders and the Challenge Iran Faces in Syria

Israeli forces initiated a series of targeted operations against key IRGC figures and individuals who were of strategic importance and held pivotal roles. Extensive logistical and intelligence data played a key role in Israeli operations against senior Iranian figures in Syria. On January 20, 2024, an Israeli operation at the heart of Damascus led to the elimination of several Iranian military leaders. (6) This was followed by another Israeli attack on January 29, 2024, impacting the Sayyidah Zaynab area in Damascus. The attack reportedly targeted a consultancy site associated with the IRGC. Before this, Razi Mousavi, a prominent IRGC leader, was killed in an Israeli airstrike in Damascus. (7) These actions enabled Tel Aviv's government to deliver a significant blow

to Iran and inflict substantial losses on the Iranian military leadership in Syria. The new Israeli approach targets active Iranian figures driving the "Axis of Resistance," marking a departure from the previous focus on Iran's infrastructure and proxies in Syria.

In the wake of these events, Iran's senior military and political leaders sought to amplify their response, fluctuating between denunciations, threats and calls for their government to counter the Israeli strikes forcefully. Yet, the most notable aspect of the Iranian reactions was the interpretation that the aforesaid Israeli strikes occurred because of a security vulnerability in Iran's ranks. These strikes occurred in an arena typically regarded as a premier Iranian security stronghold. This prompted questions regarding Israel's ability to obtain precise intelligence on the movements and meetings of Iranian leaders in Syria, especially in Damascus and its outskirts.

Iran and the Inquiry into the Source of the Breach

Amid a flurry of doubts and speculation, statements and news from the Iranian media hinted at the possibility of Moscow and Damascus being responsible for the security breach that compromised Iran's field leaders in Syria. (8) Widespread speculation suggested that Damascus may have leaked security data about Iranian targets in Syria to Israel. Concurrent-

ly, there have been lingering Iranian suspicions about Russia's role, either directly by facilitating Israeli selective targeting operations through leaks or indirectly by possibly overlooking the need to inform Tehran in advance of such operations. This comes in light of the existing protocol of cooperation and coordination between Moscow and Tel Aviv. which requires that the latter informs the former about any impending targeting operation or air raid. This protocol would have allowed the Russian side to pass the targeting information on to the intended party, enabling them to evacuate their locations to avoid casualties.

Mounting tensions between Iran and Russia on the Syrian front are unfolding alongside their strained relations on other issues, including Russia's ongoing support for the UAE's claim over the three islands disputed with Iran. That being said, the intricate web of interests and their implications compel the Iranian government to refrain from any actions that could potentially widen its dispute with Russia in Syria. This restraint is driven by Iran's strategic considerations and priorities, such as Tehran's preparations for the post-conflict phase of its ongoing proxy war with both the United States and Israel. This phase necessitates Iran's preservation of one of its most significant leverage cards - its alliance with Russia - which is critical amid its confrontations with both the United States and Israel.

Furthermore, broadening the scope of their disputes could potentially lead Moscow to enhance its security co-

ordination with Tel Aviv. Numerous reports have already suggested that Russia is formulating new security arrangements in southern Syria, specifically in the Golan Heights, to manage the potential escalation between Israel and Iranian militias in that region.

Conclusion

Based on the above, it is evident that the triangular relationship between Iran, Israel and Russia in Syria is becoming increasingly strained and complex. This is mainly due to Tel Aviv's efforts to neutralize the sources of security threats from Syria by targeting key Iranian figures who pose threats to its security. Concurrently, Iran is alarmed about Israel's potential plans to significantly broaden its future operations, which casts a shadow of uncertainty over Iran's relations with both Damascus and Moscow. Despite its challenges, Tehran's options as well as its room for maneuver, both within and outside Syria, are limited. Therefore, it will likely strategically manage its influence in Syria and de-escalate its growing disputes with Russia over specific issues. This is particularly relevant in light of the strategic challenges that the region is expected to face shortly, mainly due to the adverse effects of the ongoing Israeli war in Gaza on regional dynamics, including Syria.

Western Confrontations With the Houthis in the Red Sea

The United States has taken numerous measures, including military, political and economic ones, to contain the security threat posed by the Houthis in the Red Sea against the backdrop of failed attempts to end the Israeli war on Gaza. The Houthis have attacked Israeli ships heading to Israel in response to the ongoing Gaza war. Iranbacked armed groups in Iraq have also retaliated by launching attacks on US military sites in Syria. Meanwhile, Hezbollah and Israel have been engaged in a confrontation since the start of the Gaza war in October 2023. These developments reveal the serious danger of expanding the scope of Israel's war on Gaza in light of each party's intransigent position on the conflict. The expansion of the conflict will have ramifications for Yemen, the region and the entire world.

Military Strikes

As part of Operation Prosperity Guardian, the United States launched a series of assaults on Houthi strongholds to deter the group from jeopardizing navigation in the Red Sea. US Secretary of Defense Lloyd Austin announced that these strikes, carried out in collaboration with the UK against Yemen's Houthis, were aimed at radar systems and infrastructure for drones and missiles. "This action is intended to disrupt and degrade the Houthis' capabilities to endanger mariners and threaten global trade in one of the world's most critical waterways," he said. (9)

These military strikes managed to end the seizure of ships but failed to force the Houthis to back down from their belligerency. Although these strikes have thwarted many attempts of missile firing and diminished Houthi capabilities by striking the militia's radar bases, drones and missile platforms, they have been unable to prevent the launch of missiles from Yemeni territory targeting vessels or the dispatch of booby-trapped boats. Even though many of these missile launches have been deemed a failure, the concern remains of the possible targeting of ships and their hijacking. The aforesaid implies a continual threat to navigation in the Red Sea, which has severe implications for the global economy. In retaliation to the strikes, the Houthis have expanded their targets to include US and British vessels along with Israeli ships.

Political Pressure

On the political front, numerous measures have been implemented to pressure the Houthis into halting their attacks. On January 10, 2024, the Security Council issued a resolution denouncing the Houthi targeting of Red Sea vessels and demanding an immediate cessation. (10) The United States also re-designated the Houthis as a terrorist group(11) and sanctioned, along with the UK, four Houthi leaders. (12) In this context, President Biden's reversal of his predecessor Trump's decision to designate the Houthis as a terrorist militia highlights the US administration's inconsistent stance. It appears to base its classification of terrorist groups on its own strategic interests rather than objective considerations. This contradictory behavior forces regional powers, primarily Saudi Arabia, to continuously distance themselves from the United States when it comes to handling regional crises. In general, US attempts to force the hand of the Houthis are doomed to failure as the militia continues to adhere to its positions.

On the diplomatic front, the United States and the UK continue to accuse Iran of supplying the Houthis with weapons, technology and intelligence to assault ships in the Red Sea. The United States also urged China to pressure Iran to dissuade the Houthis from continuing their actions. (13) As reported by Reuters, citing four Iranian and diplomatic sources, "Chinese officials have asked their Iranian counterparts to help rein in attacks on ships in the Red Sea by the Iran-backed Houthis, or risk harming business relations with Beijing."(14) However, the Iranians assert that the Houthis operate autonomously and that Chinese ships are not at risk as they are not the primary targets.

The Repercussions of Recent **Developments on Yemeni Reconciliation Efforts**

Recent regional events have further complicated the already complex Yemeni crisis. By declaring that their strikes are in defense of the Palestinians, the Houthis are trying to enhance their popularity among the Yemenis, while the Yemeni government underscores the international community's past mistakes that have inadvertently empowered the group to become a global threat. Consequently, Red Sea navigation has emerged as a point of contention between the two warring sides, imposing additional burdens on the United Nations in its quest for a swift resolution to the Yemeni crisis. Despite the ongoing military skirmishes between the Houthis and the United States and the UK, UN Envoy to Yemen Hans Grundberg persists in his efforts to broker a Yemeni crisis resolution through the UN roadmap, via his talks with Houthi leaders and the legitimate government.

However, it seems that the ongoing events will likely hinder these efforts, as the Houthis persist in their attacks both in the Red Sea and in areas controlledbythelegitimategovernment. (15) The Houthi assaults in the Red Sea have ignited a new debate between the two sides. The government, while underlining its unwavering and principled stance on the just Palestinian cause and calling for an end to the Israeli aggression in the occupied territories, simultaneously accuses the Houthi group of drawing the country into a military confrontation "for propaganda purposes." It asserts that the most viable strategy at this point is the restoration of state institutions. (16)

Conclusion

Regardless of the extent to which US and allied strikes can disable the Houthi military machine to secure navigation in the Red Sea, these actions will merely limit attacks, not eliminate them entirely. This gives enough cause for concern about passing through the Bab al-Mandab Strait. Concurrently, in the aftermath of the Israel-Gaza conflict, the fallout from the current events on Yemen's political process hinges on the stance of the United States and Western powers on the Houthis and their political role. This is particularly relevant if a settlement is reached that permits the Houthis to play a role in state institutions.

ENDNOTES

- (1) وکالة فارس، سپاه پاسداران با 24 فروند موشک مقر موساد و داعش را منهدم کرد، (۱۳۰۱-۱۴۰۲)، تاریخ الاطلاع: 31 ینایر 2024م، http://tinyurl. com/472ehnm5
- (2) "Kataib Hezbollah: Iran-backed Group Suspends Attacks Against US After Drone Strike," BBC, January 31, 2024, accessed January 31, 2024, https://2u.pw/OpfHssn
 - (3) الحرة، ندَّد بـ «العدوان الإيراني» على أراضيه.. تفاصيل الشكوى العراقية لمجلس الأمن، (27 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع: 30 يناير 2024م، https://2u.pw/2cgfhE1
 - (4) إيرنا، حجم التبادل التجاري بين إيران وإقليم كردستان العراق يتراوح ما بين 6 و8 مليارات دولار، (14 سبتمبر 2023م)، تاريخ الاطلاع: 30 يناير 2024م، https://2u.pw/m4ZLyw6
 - (5) الجزيرة نت، حملة مقاطعة واسعة للبضائع الإيرانية في كردستان العراق، (25 يناير 2024م)، تاريخ الاطلاع: 30 يناير 2024م، /https://2u.pw 77tVrd7
 - (6) محمد لساني، ترور نيابتي سردار ايراني، 10 بههمن 1402ه.ش، تاريخ الاطلاع: 04 فبراير 2023م. https://bit.ly/3HObUZk
- (7) موسسه بین المللی مطالعات ایران (رصانه)، کشته شدن رضی موسوی در سوریه.. پیامهای این حمله اسرائیل و مواضع ایران، 03 پنایر 2023م، تاریخ الاطلاع: 40 غیرایر 2024م. https://bit.ly/3SLtUts.
- (8) وكالة سبوتنيك(الفارسية)، حمله اسراييل در زينبيه به مركز مستشارى ايران بوده است، 29 يناير 2024م، تاريخ الاطلاع: 04 فبراير 2024م. //bit.ly/3HJJ9Nc. bit.ly/3HJJ9Nc.
- (9)"Statement by Secretary of Defense Lloyd J. Austin III on Coalition Strikes in Houthi-Controlled Areas of Yemen," US Department of Defense, January 11, 2023, accessed February 12, 2024, https://bit.ly/3SGefKQ
- (10) "Security Council Strongly Condemns Houthi Attacks on Red Sea Shipping," UN, January 10, 2024 accessed February 12, 2024, https://news.un.org/en/story/2024/01/1145382
- (11) Antony J. Blinken, "Terrorist Designation of the Houthis," US Department of State, January 17, 2024, accessed February 12, 2024, https://bit.ly/42BP6FC
- (12) Matthew Miller, "The US and UK Sanction Houthi Military Officials," US Department of State, January 25, 2024, accessed February 12, 2024, https://bit.ly/3OELvAS
- (13) "US Asks China to Urge Iran to Curb Red Sea Attacks by Houthis FT," Reuters. January 24, 2024, accessed February 12, 2024, https://bit.ly/3uuKPHo
- (14)Ibid.
- .المخا للدراسات الاستراتيجية، الاحاطة الشهرية لشهر يناير 2024، العدد32، يناير 2024، ص90 (15)
- (16) "Yemen Stresses its Sovereign Right, Holds Houthis Responsible for Escalation," Asharq Al-Awsat, January 13, 2024, accessed February 12, 2024, https://bit.ly/3SSc08m.

IRAN'S RELATIONS WITH REGIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL POWERS

The recent attack by Kata'ib Hezbollah, an Iran-backed group in Iraq, on a US base in Jordan has led to a significant escalation in US-Iran relations. Meanwhile, longstanding issues have caused tensions between Iran and European nations. The UK accused Iran of targeting Iranian opponents abroad and orchestrating the Houthis' attacks on the Red Sea. In this section of Rasanah's ICF, we will examine two significant topics as follwos:

- Despite Simmering Tensions, the US and Iran Continue to Avoid a Direct Face-Off
- Iran Facing Tensions With the IAEA and the UK

Despite Simmering Tensions, the US and Iran Continue to Avoid a Direct Face-Off

The ongoing Gaza conflict continues to escalate tensions between the United States and Iran, bringing them closer to a potential large-scale confrontation that both sides are striving to avoid. What initially began as localized confrontations in Lebanon, Iraq, Syria, Yemen and areas surrounding the Red Sea and the Bab al-Mandab Strait have now extended to encompass Jordan. This expansion of the conflict has led the United States to reassess its redlines and rules of engagement, with Washington holding Iran partially responsible for the actions of its militias. The evolving dynamics suggest that the conflict is indeed widening and may eventually compel both parties into a confrontation they are diligently seeking to avoid.

Confrontation on Multiple Fronts Via Proxies

Washington has accused Iran of instigating and supporting Houthi attacks on ships, presenting its case before the UN Security Council. Despite Iran's official objections to this accusation. on January 10, 2024, the United States successfully passed Security Council Resolution No. 2722. Acting in conjunction with the UK on January 12, the United States launched attacks on several Houthi military sites in Yemen, a move condemned by Iran, a supporter of the Houthis. The United States had previously urged Iran to cease its support for the Houthis, including providing the militia with various anti-ship missile capabilities, coastal radar systems and ship movement data.

Iran opted not to heed this call and instead, shortly after British warnings, directed the destroyer Alborz toward the Red Sea via the Bab al-Mandab Strait, Tehran also endorsed Houthi actions targeting ships associated with Israel en route to the Red Sea. This move appeared to convey two messages: first, Iran's assertion of its right to a permanent presence in the Red Sea and nearby vital corridors; second. its steadfast support for the Houthis.(1) Iran has managed to carry out several attacks in the Red Sea through its proxy, the Houthis, while the United States has struggled to garner Arab or international support to address this challenge. Despite joint efforts with the UK. Houthi attacks on commercial vessels have not stopped.

Iran distanced itself from the attack carried out by Iranian proxies in Iraq against the US base, Tower 22, in the Rukban area on the Syrian and Jordanian border, resulting in the deaths of three US soldiers and injuries inflicted on 30 others, mainly in response to the targeting of a deputy leader of the Popular Mobilization Forces and the primary official responsible for Baghdad's security Mushtaq Talib Al-Saidi. In response, the US State Department attributed responsibility to militias supported by the IRGC for attacks on US forces in Iraq and Syria. Iran sought to mitigate US reactions by affirming through the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Iranian mission to the United Nations that it did not seek to broaden the conflict's scope, and that resistance factions in the region do not take

orders from Tehran when it comes to their decisions and actions, and that Tehran bears no responsibility for the attacks.⁽²⁾

The attacks carried out by Iranian-affiliated militias in Iraq, Syria and subsequently Jordan, along with US responses targeting the headquarters of the Popular Mobilization Forces and some of its leaders, created pressures and challenges for the US presence in the region. For example, Iraqi public pressure prompted the Iraqi government to announce its intention to establish a bilateral committee to end the presence of international forces, led by the United States, in Iraq. Additionally, the Biden administration has started discussions about withdrawing US forces from Syria. These developments align with Tehran's long-term goal of ending the US presence in Iraq and the broader region, a strategy it has been pursuing for some time. Similarly, in Lebanon, Hezbollah, Iran's proxy, rebuffed Washington's initial proposals to de-escalate tensions with Israel, such as withdrawing its fighters from the border. However, it maintained open diplomatic channels to prevent a full-blown war, aligning with Iran's strategy of unity across various arenas. Iran seeks to link regional truces with the Gaza ceasefire, viewing any weakening of resistance parties as a threat to its influence and territorial integrity in the future.

While Iran and its proxies disrupt Washington's regional calculations, the latter has ramped up sanctions targeting entities affiliated with and supporting Iran in a bid to diminish its influence. The following table outlines the notable sanctions imposed during January 2024:

Date	Measure
January 12	The US Treasury Department added two companies based in Hong Kong and the UAE to its sanctions list, citing their involvement in activities linked to Iran and the Yemeni Ansarallah group.
January 17	Inclusion of the Ansarallah group on the list of Specially Designated Global Terrorist groups.
January 19	A man was sentenced to prison by the US Department of Justice for unlawfully sending large equipment to Iran, breaching US sanctions.
January 22	The United States acted against Fly Baghdad, an Iraqi airline, and its CEO by placing them on the sanctions lists. This move was in response to their alleged support for the Quds Force of the IRGC and militias linked to Iran in Iraq, Syria and Lebanon. Additionally, two aircraft registered in Iraq and owned by Fly Baghdad were classified as prohibited property. Furthermore, the United States designated three leaders and supporters of Kata'ib Hezbollah, an Iranian-aligned militia in Iraq associated with the Quds Force, along with a company accused of facilitating business and money laundering for Kata'ib Hezbollah's benefit.

January 25	The United States and the UK jointly imposed sanctions on four military officials belonging to Ansarallah. These sanctions were in response to their alleged involvement in supporting recent attacks carried out by the group.
January 29	Both the United States and the UK enforced sanctions on a network of individuals implicated in targeting Iranian dissidents at the behest of Iran, along with certain high-ranking members of the IRGC. Additionally, the 840th Revolutionary Guards Unit was added to the sanctions lists of both countries.

Source: Prepared by Unit of Regional and International Studies, the International Institute for Iranian Studies (Rasanah), 2024.

Maritime Attacks and Nuclear Concerns

Besides the ongoing regional tensions, Iran is adopting strategies to complicate US decision-making, capitalizing on the Biden administration's reluctance to engage in direct conflict with Tehran, particularly against the backdrop of the upcoming US elections. For instance, on January 11, 2023, Iranian naval forces conducted a helicopter-borne landing operation to seize an oil tanker near the coast of Oman. citing a judicial warrant. (3) Washington condemned the action as "illegal," warning that further attempts by Tehran to disrupt shipping in the strait could escalate into direct military confrontation with the United States — a scenario the latter has been keen to avoid thus far.(4)

Amid escalating tensions, Iran successfully launched three satellites into orbit, heightening US apprehensions regarding Tehran's ballistic missile program and nuclear aspirations. The United States suspects Iran of using this satellite launch as a cover to advance its ballistic missile capabilities, further complicating the situation.

Additionally, US officials have raised concerns about Russia's collaboration with Iran, alleging that Moscow is aiding Tehran in enhancing its satellite reconnaissance capabilities and providing extensive defense cooperation, including in missiles, military electronics and air defense systems. Moreover, Russia's interest in acquiring medium-range ballistic missiles is seen as an attempt to bolster its defense capabilities while engaging in an indirect conflict with the West, particularly in Ukraine. (5)

Iran is adopting a policy of nuclear ambiguity, using it as a leverage tool amid the ongoing conflict or to exploit current exceptional circumstances to advance its nuclear program. Director General of the International Atomic Energy Agency Rafael Grossi expressed concern about the lack of dialogue channels with Iran and the dwindling diplomatic efforts. He warned that the escalation in the Gaza conflict could push Iran toward possessing nuclear weapons, particularly if the conflict widens and Iran's influence or borders face increased threats. There are also apprehensions that Iran might adjust its nuclear stance in anticipation of the US elections, possibly with a return of Trump to power, as diplomatic avenues seem bleak. However, it is unlikely that the Iranian establishment would gamble on any nuclear strategy that could pose an existential threat to the republic.

Conclusion

Iran has played a significant role in fueling conflict contrary to the wishes of the United States. Recent developments in January indicate an expanding confrontation between Washington and Tehran, affecting new arenas and risking regional and international security, notably in the Red Sea region. However, this confrontation remains

indirect, primarily through proxies. Both sides have been cautious to avoid direct conflict, recognizing that it would not serve their long-term interests in the region and globally. Nevertheless, the possibility of direct confrontation cannot be ruled out entirely, given the significant conflicting interests at play. Escalating damage to shipping routes and its potential exacerbation, along with the erosion of the United States' regional influence and deterrence capabilities against Iran and its allies, could further fuel tensions

Iran Facing Tensions With the IAEA and the UK

Iran-Europe relations remain marred by friction over human rights, the nuclear deal, and more recently, terrorism and piracy by the Houthis in the Red Sea. The status quo prevailed regarding the plight of detained foreign nationals but the galloping advances in Iran's nuclear program led to an unusual expression of alarm by the IAEA chief. This part of the ICF for January discusses Iran's nuclear maneuvers and the continuous development of its nuclear program, the eruption of disagreement and the exchange of accusations between Tehran and London against the backdrop of the UK's new sanctions on Iran, and the repercussions of these developments on the future of bilateral relations.

The Nuclear Gambit

Iran is "restricting cooperation in a very unprecedented way" and is punishing the agency for the actions taken by the United States and European countries, said IAEA Director-General Rafael Mariano Grossi at the World Economic Forum in Davos. (6) He termed Iran's behavior as "unacceptable" for the agency which is being held "hostage" due to political disputes with others. Grossi said that diplomacy is vital "to prevent the situation deteriorating to a degree where it would be impossible to retrieve it." The IAEA noted that Tehran is not providing "the whole range of information" and responding to its specific questions about its nuclear activities. In December, the IAEA reported an in-

crease in uranium enrichment to 60%. The picture is blurry as the agency's access remains extremely limited though Iran is obligated to be transparent. "Iran is the only non-nuclear weapon state which is enriching uranium at this very, very high level - very close to weapons grade," Grossi told The National. (7) The IAEA chief visited Iran last March in a bid to save the JCPOA and halt the clandestine activities before they became too alarming. Now he observes, "A snapshot shows a programme which is galloping ahead, moving ahead with ambitious goals. We have nothing against that. But we say the visibility of the international inspectorate, the IAEA, must be commensurate with those activities."(8) Director of the Atomic Energy Organization of Iran Mohammad Eslami "expected there would be no significant progress towards implementing the Joint Statement, particularly with regard to JCPOA nuclear-related commitments, while sanctions remained in place."(9) Iran's Foreign Ministry Spokesperson Nasser Kanaani reiterated that the environment for talks "still exists" if the talks are held "within the framework of our redlines."(10) Earlier in December, Iran's Foreign Minister Hossein Amir-Abdollahian stated that the 2015 nuclear deal was becoming "useless."(11) On its part, Iran increased production of enriched uranium to 60%. according to the latest IAEA report. Eslami downplayed the report, saying Iran has not expanded its capacity to

enrich uranium to 60%, likely referring to the fact that Iran has not dedicated additional centrifuges for enrichment at that level.

France, Germany, the UK and the United States condemned Iran's move to increase uranium enrichment and jointly noted that such an action "carries significant proliferation-related risks."(12) It also termed Iran's decision as a sign of "lack of goodwill towards de-escalation" in a "tense regional context."

Spat With the UK

Angered over the new UK and US sanctions imposed on certain Iranians for allegedly targeting Iranian opposition activists. Tehran issued a demarche to the British ambassador to protest against these "baseless accusations." "Following the continuation of the British regime's accusations against the Islamic Republic of Iran, Simon Shercliff, the British ambassador in Tehran, was summoned to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs ... and was informed of our country's strong protest," IRNA state news reported. (13)

Tehran criticized London for a "destructive and unconstructive" act toward Tehran.

"This is a bitter historical irony that a country that is the founder and supporter of organized terrorist groups, drug trafficking, and criminal gangs wants to make accusations against the Islamic Republic of Iran and its loval and honest forces, who are at the forefront of fighting organized crimes," the official, cited by IRNA, said. (14)

Earlier, UK Foreign Secretary David Cameron condemned the "attacks by Iranaligned militia groups against US forces."

Conclusion

Iran's relations with Europe have remained tense but stable since Tehran's decision to gradually violate the JCPOA clauses. Relations are likely to deteriorate given the continued support of Iran for the Houthis and its proxies' belligerence in other parts of the Middle East. Besides, a steady stream of detentions of European citizens visiting Iran, including some dual nationals. further strains bilateral ties. The Raisi government is continuing the policy of controlled direct escalation while ratcheting up tensions through its proxies elsewhere in the Middle East.

ENDNOTES

- (1) صحیفة دنیاي اقتصاد، تنشها در بابالمندب و دریای سرخ به چه سمت و سویی میرود؟ پیام ترکیبی ناوشکن البرز، (۱۲/ ۱۰/ ۱۴۰۲ ه ش)، تاريخ الاطلاع: 7 فبراير 2024م، http://tinyurl.com/yc4atyuf
- (2) وكالبة ارنا، كنعاني: گروههاي مقاومت در منطقه در تصميمات و اقدامات خود از، تاريخ الاطلاع: 7 فبراير 2024م، //http:/ tinyurl.com/yey52te2
- (3) وكالنة ارنيا، كنعاني: گروههاي مقاومت در منطقه در تصميمات و اقداميات خود از، تاريخ الاطبلاع: 7 فبرايير 2024م، //http:/ tinyurl.com/yey52te2
- (4) Con Coughlin, "Why Iran is avoiding a full-blown war with the West," Telegraph, January 12, 2024, accessed February 7, 2024, https://2u.pw/gFef2n0
- (5) Michael R. Gordon & Gordon Lubold & Benoit Faucon, "Russia Moves Forward With Plans to Buy Iranian Ballistic Missiles," The Wall Street Journal, January 4, 2024, accessed Febuary 7, 2024, https://2u.pw/hHE6WFR
- (6) Jack Dutton, "Davos 2024: IAEA Chief Says Monitoring of Iran Nuclear Sites 'Not at a Good Place," Al-Monitor, January 19, 2024, accessed February 02, 2024, https://bit.ly/3SHwNu2.
- (7) Rory Reynold, "Davos 2024: Nuclear Watchdog Chief Says Iran Is 'Galloping Ahead' With Uranium Enrichment," The National, January 16, 2024, accessed February 2, 2024, https://bit.ly/49B0jbE.
- (8) Ibid.
- (9) "NPT Safeguards Agreement With the Islamic Republic of Iran," IAEA, GOV/2023/58, November 15, 2023, accessed February 2, 2024, https://bit.ly/42DbWN4.
- (10) Arsalan Shahla, "Iran Says Prospect for Talks Over Nuclear Deal 'Still Exists," Bloomberg, January 1, 2024, accessed February 02, 2024, https://bit.ly/3OIJZh9.
- (11) "Iran Says Reviving Nuclear Deal 'Useless," AFP via VOA, December 9, 2023, accessed February 2, 2024, https:// bit.ly/3OJRcgP.
- (12) Jonathan Landay, "France, Germany, UK and US Condemn Iran's Increase in Uranium Enrichment," Reuters, December 29, 2023, accessed February 2, 2024, https://bit.ly/3OIKec3.
- (13) "Iran Summons British Ambassador as Tensions Soar," Al Jazeera, January 30, 2024, accessed February 2, 2024, https://bit.ly/48iJS2X.
- (14) "Iran Summons UK Ambassador to Protest Baseless Accusations," IRNA, January 30 2024, accessed February 2, 2024, https://bit.ly/48bCczm.



Iran Case File

January 2024



Iran Case File

January 2024